
  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: June 10, 2021 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: 5th Floor Commission Chambers 
 Jackson County Tower Building 
 120 W. Michigan Avenue 
 Jackson, Michigan 49201 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. Call to order and pledge of allegiance 

2. Public comment [3 MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of minutes 

Approval of the May 13, 2021, meeting minutes [ACTION]  ......................................................................  3 

4. Approval of agenda 

Approval of the June 10, 2021, meeting agenda [ACTION] 

5. Request(s) for review, comment, and recommendation 

a. Consideration of township zoning amendment(s) 

(1) CZ | #21-12 | Leoni Township rezoning [ACTION]  .......................................................................  7 

(2) CZ | #21-13 | Leoni Township rezoning [ACTION]  .....................................................................  27 

(3) CZ | #21-14 | Blackman Township rezoning [ACTION]  ..............................................................  49 

b. Consideration of master plan(s) – None 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s) – None 

6. Other business 

a. Unfinished business – Jackson County Master Plan 

(1) Future Land Use Plan  .............................................................................................................  67 

b. New business – None 

7. Public comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner comment 

9. Adjournment 

The next scheduled meeting of the Jackson County Planning Commission is June 10, 2021 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #1 

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #2 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING MINUTES 

May 13, 2021 
5th Floor Commission Chambers ● Jackson County Tower Building ● Jackson, Michigan 

Members Present: Mr. Eric Beda, Industry and Economics; Mr. Roger Gaede, Environment; Ms. Pat 
Gallagher, At Large; Ms. Nancy Hawley, At Large; Mr. Ted Hilleary, Education; and 
Mr. Corey Kennedy, Jackson County Board of Commissioners;  

 Members Absent: Mr. Timothy Burns, At Large; Mr. Russ Jennings, At Large; and Mr. Jim Videto, 
Agriculture 

 Liaisons Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, Principal Planner 

 Others Present: Ms. Dennise Barber, Mr. Jay Marshall, and Ms. Jennifer Marshall 

Item 1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance. Chair Hawley called the meeting to order at 6:03 
p.m. Those in attendance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2. Public Comment. There was no public comment. 

Item 3. Approval of Minutes. Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to 
approve the April 8, 2021, meeting minutes as presented. The motion was approved unani-
mously. 

Item 4. Approval of the Agenda. Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, 
to approve the May 13, 2021, meeting agenda as presented. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

Item 5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s). 

(1) CZ | #21-09 | Napoleon Township  

Staff summarized his report regarding the proposed rezoning of 1-acre of a property 
located at 7900 Napoleon Road, south of M-50, and known as Parcel ID #000-14-36-
151-007-01, to ‘single-family residential (R-1)’. The applicant plans to split off the 
rezoned acre and combine the remainders of the parcel with an associated parcel to 
the south. Staff observed that the rezoning is consistent with the future land use 
plan, that properties on the west side of Napoleon Road are assessed for residential 
uses and a few of them are already zoned ‘R-1’, that no negative impacts to public 
services/facilities are anticipated, and that the property already contains a single-
family residence. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners to recommend ap-
proval with comments of the rezoning, noting that similar nearby properties could 
also be rezoned ‘R-1’ (please see the staff report). 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #3 



05/13/21 JCPC Minutes Page 2 
 

Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to concur with the 
staff advisement to recommend approval with comments of the proposed ‘R-1’ re-
zoning to the Napoleon Township Board, noting that other residentially used prop-
erties in the general area could also be rezoned ‘R-1’. Commissioners approved the 
motion unanimously. 

(2) CZ | #21-10 | Leoni Township 

Staff summarized his report regarding the proposed rezoning of properties located 
on Ann Arbor Road, west of Race Road and known as Parcel ID #000-09-24-103-017-
00 and #000-09-24-103-018-00, to ‘general business (B-4)’. Staff observed that the 
rezoning is consistent with the future land use plan, that properties on the south 
side of Ann Arbor Road are already zoned ‘B-4’, and that no negative impacts to 
public services/facilities are anticipated. Accordingly, staff originally advised County 
Planning Commissioners to recommend approval of the rezoning (please see the 
staff report).  

However, the parcels are part of the Vineyard Hills Site Condominium, which is cov-
ered by a master deed. Staff relayed the Chair did some investigation and discov-
ered that the Township approved the site condominium project and that she had 
found no evidence that a portion of a site condominium has ever been split off or 
rezoned. Based upon that information, staff revised his advisement to County Plan-
ning Commissioners to recommend disapproval of the rezoning. 

Comm. Beda asked about community input. Comm. Gallagher mentioned an email 
that she had received from Mary Jane Bush, a resident of the site condominium, in 
opposition to the rezoning. Staff noted the emails from Jennifer Marshall in opposi-
tion to the rezoning, including signed letters from 15 occupants/owners of site con-
dominium lots. Jennifer Marshall was present at the meeting and spoke in opposi-
tion to the rezoning. Dennise Barber, owner of the adjacent Lone Oak Winery, also 
spoke in opposition to the rezoning. 

Comm. Beda made a motion, seconded by Comm. Kennedy, to recommend disap-
proval of the proposed ‘B-4’ rezoning to the Leoni Township Board. Commissioners 
approved the motion unanimously. 

(3) CZ | #21-11 | Leoni Township  

Staff summarized his report regarding the proposed rezoning of the old Bertha Rob-
inson Elementary School, located at 5400 Seymour Road and known as Parcel ID 
#000-09-21-101-002-01, to ‘light industrial (ML)’. Staff observed that the rezoning is 
inconsistent with the future land use plan, that there is the potential for conflict 
with the surrounding mix of residential and agricultural uses, and that rezoning the 
property would result in a ‘spot zone’ as there is no other ‘ML’ zoning present on 
adjacent parcels. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners to recommend dis-
approval of the rezoning (please see the staff report). 

Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to recommend dis-
approval of the proposed ‘ML’ rezoning to the Leoni Township Board. Commission-
ers approved the motion unanimously. 

b. Consideration of Master Plan(s). None. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #4 



05/13/21 JCPC Minutes Page 3 
 

c. Farmland & Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s). None. 

Item 6. Other Business. 

a. Unfinished Business – Jackson County Master Plan. 

(1) Goals and Actions – Staff provided commissioners with a clean copy of the goals 
and actions to be included in the next edition of the Jackson County Master Plan, 
noting the main areas of focus: 

 open ethical governance and citizen participation, 

 planning coordination, 

 innovative planning and zoning, 

 nonmotorized facilities, 

 community facilities, 

 natural resources, 

 farmland and open space preservation, and 

 ‘over zoning’ and ‘strip’ commercial development. 

(2) Future Land Use and Agricultural Preservation Maps – Staff informed com-
missioners that the next step in the completion of the next edition of the Jackson 
County Master Plan is the drafting of a future land use plan. Using the examples 
contained in his memo, staff explained that the future land use plan could take the 
form of a traditional future land use map—with designations for residential, com-
mercial, industrial, and agricultural uses—or a more streamlined map that shows 
areas proposed for development and those proposed for agricultural preservation. 

Comm. Hawley spoke about the need for a holistic countywide approach to the fu-
ture land use map. Comm. Gaede noted that he tilts toward agricultural preserva-
tion. Comm. Gallagher, Comm. Hilleary, and Comm. Hawley advocated for a more 
hybridized map that shows areas of agricultural preservation and developed areas. 
Staff was directed to begin work on that type of map 

b. New Business. None. 

Item 7. Public Comment. None. 

Item 8. Commissioner Comment. None.  

Item 9. Adjournment. Chair Hawley adjourned the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by:  
Grant Bauman, Recording Secretary 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #5 



This page is intentionally blank. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #6 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #21-12 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: June 3, 2021 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Leoni Township 

Request 
The subject property (4797 Page Road, ID #000-14-09-101-009-00) is proposed for rezoning from ‘com-
munity business (B-2)’ to ‘light industrial (ML)’ (see the background information). 

Purpose 
The purpose provided is the marketing of the property for sale (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form and 
background information).1 

Location and Size of the Property 
The subject property has an area of approximately 0.62 acres. Situated in Section 9 (T3S-R1E) of the 
Township, the property is located in the southwest corner of the intersection of Page Avenue and Sixth 
Street in Michigan Center (see Figure 1). 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The subject property contains a commercial business and is currently assessed for 
‘commercial’ uses (see Figure 2). Properties on the north side of Page Avenue are assessed for ‘residen-
tial’ uses. Properties to the east are assessed as ‘commercial vacant’ and ‘residential’. An active rail line 
bounds the property to the south. Commercial properties are located to the west.  

Future Land Use Plan – The Leoni Township Master Plan recommends ‘commercial’ uses for the sub-
ject property and other properties west of Sixth Street (see Figure 3). ‘Medium-density residential’ uses 
are proposed for properties on the north side of Page Avenue. ‘Industrial’ uses are proposed on the east 
side of Sixth Street. ‘Medium-density residential’ uses are proposed south of the rail line. 

Current Zoning – The subject property is currently zoned ‘community business (B-2)’, as are properties 
to the southeast, south, and west (see Figure 4). Properties to the north are zoned ‘one-family residen-
tial (R-1)’. Properties to the east are zoned ‘light industrial (ML)’. 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal water and sewer services are available according to the 
Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). 

                                                 
1 Please note that this report lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Do no utilize it in making the rezoning deci-
sion. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the proposed zoning 
designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #7 



CZC | #21-12 Page 2 
 

Public Road/Street Access – Page Avenue, a county primary roadway, bounds the subject property to 
the north. Sixth Street, a county local roadway, bounds the property to the east. Access to the property 
appears to be off Sixth Street (see Figure 5). 

Environmental Constraints – The subject property has no known environmental constraints accord-
ing to the Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Leoni Township Planning Commission 
recommends disapproval of the proposed rezoning of the subject property to ‘light industrial (ML)’ (see 
the attached Zoning Amendment Form and background information). 

Staff Analysis – Leoni Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes the 
following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. The proposed rezoning is not consistent with the Master Plan. The Future Land Use Plan 

identified ‘commercial’ uses for the subject property. 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

No. The Future Land Use Plan recommends industrial uses along Page Avenue to the east of 

Sixth Street, not the west (see Figure 3). Similarly, ‘light industrial (ML)’ zoning along Page Ave-
nue is currently limited to east of Sixth Street (see Figure 4). Only a few properties along Page 
Avenue, east of Sixth Street, are used for industrial purposes, leaving sufficient room for such 
development without expanding the current ‘ML’ district. 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. It is unlikely that the rezoning would have a negative impact of public services and facilities. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

No. With the existing ‘light industrial (ML)’ district located east of Sixth Street underutilized for 

industrial use, there is no need to expand the district west of Sixth Street. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – Based upon the analysis provided in his 
report, staff advises the Planning Commission to recommend DIS-
APPROVAL to the Leoni Township Board of the proposed rezoning 
of the subject property (ID #000-14-09-101-009-00) to ‘light indus-
trial (ML)’. 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Leoni Township 

  

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #8 



CZC | #21-12 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #9 



CZC | #21-12 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #10 



CZC | #21-12 Page 5 
 

Figure 5 

Aerial Photo 

 
 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #11 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #12 

gbauman
Typewriter
21        12



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #13 

gbauman
Typewriter
21       12



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #14 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #15 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #16 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #17 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #18 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #19 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #20 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #21 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #22 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #23 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #24 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #25 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #26 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #21-13 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: June 3, 2021 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Leoni Township 

Request 
The subject property (3639 Flansburg Road, ID #000-14-18-227-002-00) is proposed for rezoning from 
‘general business (B-4)’ and ‘suburban residential (RS)’ to ‘light industrial (ML)’ (see the background in-
formation). The subject property was subsequently divided into two new subject parcels (ID #000-14-18-
227-002-01 and ID #000-14-18-227-002-02 (see the background information). 

Purpose 
The purpose provided is to develop the new parcels (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form and background 
information).1 

Location and Size of the Property 
The smaller subject parcel (ID #000-14-18-227-002-01) has an area of approximately 2.27 acres while 
the larger subject parcel (ID #000-14-18-227-002-02) has an area of approximately 17.89 acres. Situated 
in Section 18 (T3S-R1E) of the Township, the properties are located on the south side of Flansburg Road, 
southwest of the intersection with Falahee Road (see Figure 1). 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The smaller subject parcel (ID #000-14-18-227-002-01) contains buildings while 
the larger subject parcel (ID #000-14-18-227-002-02) is vacant. They are currently assessed as a ‘refer-
ence’ property, which does not translate into a land use category (see Figure 2). ‘Commercially’ and ‘res-
identially’ assessed properties are located to the north. ‘Residentially’ assessed properties are located to 
the east. ‘Residential vacant’ parcels are located to the southwest. An ‘industrially’ assessed property is 
located to the west. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Leoni Township Master Plan recommends ‘low density residential’ uses 
for the subject property and all surrounding properties (see Figure 3). ‘Industrial’ uses are proposed for 
properties further to the west and northwest. 

Current Zoning – The smaller subject parcel (ID #000-14-18-227-002-01) appears to be entirely within 
a ‘general business (B-4)’ zone. The larger subject parcel (ID #000-14-18-227-002-02) appears to be spilt 
between a ‘general business (B-4)’ zone and a ‘suburban residential (RS)’ zone (see Figure 4). Properties 
to the north are zoned ‘B-4’. All other surrounding properties are zoned ‘RS’. 

                                                 
1 Please note that this report lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Do no utilize it in making the rezoning deci-
sion. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the proposed zoning 
designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #27 



CZC | #21-13 Page 2 
 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal water and sewer services are not available according to 
the Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). 

Public Road/Street Access – Flansburg Road, a county primary roadway, provides direct access to the 
subject properties. 

Environmental Constraints – The Township did not indicate if there are any known environmental 
constraints (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). However, the National Wetlands Inventory indicates 
the presence of wetlands on the larger subject property (ID #000-14-18-227-002-02) (see Figure 5). 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Leoni Township Planning Commission 
recommends disapproval of the proposed rezoning of the subject property to ‘light industrial (ML)’ (see 
the attached Zoning Amendment Form and background information). 

Staff Analysis – Leoni Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes the 
following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. The proposed rezoning is not consistent with the Master Plan. The Future Land Use Plan 

identifies ‘low-density residential’ uses for the subject properties (see Figure 3). 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

No. While a portion of the property to the west is recommended for ‘industrial’ uses, the por-

tion closest to the subject properties is recommended for ‘low-density residential’ uses (see Fig-
ure 3). ‘Heavy industrial (M)’ zoning is limited to the same general area, with ‘suburban residen-
tial (RD)’ zoning on the portion closest to the subject properties. 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. It is unlikely that the rezoning would have a negative impact of public services and facilities. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

No. Wetlands are located on the larger subject property (ID #000-14-18-227-002-02), allowing 

for potential flooding/contamination from industrial uses. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – Based upon the analysis provided in his 
report, staff advises the Planning Commission to recommend DIS-
APPROVAL to the Leoni Township Board of the proposed rezoning 
of the subject properties (ID #000-14-18-227-002-01 and ID #000-
14-18-227-002-02) to ‘light industrial (ML)’. 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Leoni Township 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #28 



CZC | #21-13 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #29 



CZC | #21-13 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #30 



CZC | #21-13 Page 5 
 

Figure 5 

Wetlands 

 
Figure 6 

Aerial Photo 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #31 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #32 

gbauman
Typewriter
21       13



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #33 

gbauman
Typewriter
21       13



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #34 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #35 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #36 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #37 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #38 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #39 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #40 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #41 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #42 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #43 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #44 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #45 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #46 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #47 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #48 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #21-14 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: May 25, 2021 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Leoni Township 

Request 
The subject properties (Cooper Road (M-106), ID #000-08-22-427-003-00 and #000-08-22-427-004-00) 
are proposed for rezoning from ‘urban residential (RU-1)’ to ‘heavy industrial (I-2)’ (see the background 
information). 

Purpose 
The applicant wishes to combine the subject properties with Main & Company, the adjacent industrial 
property located to the north (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form and background information).1  

Location and Size of the Property 
The subject properties have a combined area of approximately 8 acres. Situated in Section 22 and 23 
(T2S-R1W) of the Township, the properties are located on the west side of Cooper Road (M-106), south 
of Chanter Road (see Figure 1). 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The subject properties are vacant and currently assessed by the Township as ‘resi-
dential vacant’ (see Figure 2). Main & Company, the adjacent industrial property located to the north, is 
assessed for industrial use. Properties on the east side of Cooper Road (M-106) are assessed for ‘resi-
dential’ use, as are parcels to the south. An ‘exempt’ property, part of the City of Jackson’s wastewater 
treatment plant, is located on the west side of the adjacent railroad right-of-way. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Blackman Township Master Plan recommends ‘general commercial’ uses 
for the subject properties as well as properties to the north, east, and south along Cooper Road (M-106) 
(see Figure 3). ‘Public-quasi-public’ uses are proposed to the west. 

Current Zoning – The western ends of the subject properties are currently zoned ‘heavy industrial (I-
2)’, but the most of their area is zoned ‘urban residential (RU-1)’ (see Figure 4). Properties located to the 
north, southwest, and west are also zoned ‘I-2’. Properties on the east side of Cooper Road (M-106) are 
zoned ‘suburban residential (RS-1)’. Properties to the south along M-106 are zoned ‘RU-1’. 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal water and sewer services are not available according to 
the Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). 

                                                 
1 Please note that this report lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Do no utilize it in making the rezoning deci-
sion. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the proposed zoning 
designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #49 



CZC | #21-14 Page 2 
 

Public Road/Street Access – Cooper Road (M-106), a state highway, provides direct access to the 
subject properties. 

Environmental Constraints – The subject properties have no known environmental constraints ac-
cording to the Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Blackman Township Planning Commis-
sion recommends approval of the proposed rezoning of the subject properties to ‘heavy industrial (I-2)’ 
(see the attached Zoning Amendment Form and background information). 

Staff Analysis – Blackman Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes 
the following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. The Future Land Use (FLU) Plan includes the parcels in an area recommended for ‘general 

commercial’ uses (see Figure 3). The FLU Plan should be amended to accommodate the existing 
and proposed industrial development in this part of Blackman Township. 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. The property to the north is already utilized for industrial uses and Jackson’s wastewater 

treatment plant is located to the west (see Figure 4). 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. Cooper Road (M-106) is a state highway. Water and sewer services are not provided. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. The properties are already partially zoned ‘heavy industrial (I-2)’ and industrial uses are al-

ready located to the north and the west. 

An incorrect Parcel ID # was provided on the notice published in the Jackson Citizen Patriot (ID #000-08-
32-434-003 rather than #000-08-22-427-003-00). This mistake should be corrected and a new public 
hearing held before the Blackman Township Planning Commission prior to any action taken by the Black-
man Township Board. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – Based upon the analysis provided in his 
report, staff advises the Planning Commission to recommend AP-
PROVAL WITH COMMENTS to the Blackman Township Board of the 
proposed rezoning of the subject properties (ID #000-08-22-427-
003-00 and #000-08-22-427-004-00) to ‘heavy industrial (I-2)’ (see 
the staff report). 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Leoni Township 

 

 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #50 



CZC | #21-14 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #51 



CZC | #21-14 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #52 



CZC | #21-14 Page 5 
 

Figure 5a and 5b 

Aerial Photos 

 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #53 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #54 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #55 



 
MINUTES 
BLACKMAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
1990 W. PARNALL RD. 
TUESDAY MAY 18, 2021 
6:00PM 
 
The Blackman Charter Township Planning Commission Convened at 6:00pm on Tuesday, May 19, 2021 at 
the Blackman Township Office. 
 
Members Present: Decker, Williams, Grabert, Schroeder 
Members Absent: Bachus 
 
Sign-in list of names present:  In file 
 
AGENDA MOTION:  None 
 
MINUTES APPROVAL:  April 20, 2021 
Motion by: Bachus supported by: Grabert to approve Minutes for the Planning Commission meetings held 
04/20/2021. 
Roll Call: Ayes 4, Nays 0.  Motion Carried. 
 
CASE# 1522 – ZONING CHANGE: RU-1 TO I-2 
Parcel # 000-08-22-427-004-00 and 000-08-22-427-003-00 
Requested by: Gerald Brown – Main & Company 
Presentation by owner: Gerald Brown 
Public Comment: None 
Motion by: Williams, supported by: Schroeder to recommend approval of the Zoning Change Case #1522 
as submitted. Region 2 declined to review the zoning change and issue report. 
Roll Call: Ayes 4, Nays 0.  Motion Carried. 
 
CASE# 1524 – CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT: PROPOSED LANDSCAPE COMPANY C-3 (HIGHWAY 
COMMERCIAL) 
Address:3851 W. Michigan Ave, Jackson, MI 49202 
Parcel # 000-08-31-426-003-00 
Requested by: Total Property Management Group 
Presentation by owner: Tim Bowman 
Public Comment: None 
Motion by: Williams, supported by: Graber to recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit Case 
#1524 with the following conditions: Fencing/Buffer shall be placed around property and no outside 
storage of materials. Recommendation was based on Section 4.4.3 b 6 of Blackman Charter Township 
Zoning Ordinance. 
Roll Call: Ayes 4, Nays 0.  Motion Carried. 
 
CASE# 65.2021: SITE PLAN REVIEW: EMERALD OUTDOOR LANDSCAPE BUSINESS 
Address: SW Corner Clinton Rd & Rives Junction Rd 
Parcel: #000-08-451-004-01 
Requested by: Emerald Property Development 
Presentation: Doug Martz  
Public Comment: None 
Motion by: Schroeder, Supported by: Williams to approve case# 65.2021 as submitted w/ condition that 
they provide the zoning administrator the following prior to issuance of a building permit. Copy of Flowage 
Agreement and Recording, MDOT approval for Force Main and North East Retention Pond, JCDOT approval 
and Compliance with Drain Commissioner Letter dated May 13, 2021. 
Roll Call: Ayes 4, Nays 0.  Motion Carried. 6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #56 



 
OTHER MATTERS REVIEWED: None 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None 
 
TRUSTEE REPORT: Special meetings scheduled for Board on June 26 for review of consumers variance 
request to ZBA. 
 
ZBA REPORT:  None 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Motion by: Decker, supported by: Schroeder, adjourned at 7:37 pm 
 
Minutes prepared by: Byron Schroeder, Secretary 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #57 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #58 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #59 



6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #60 



 612725  4593

 Order Confirmation
Ad Order Number  0009956058

Payor Customer

1990 W PARNALL RD, 1990 W PARNALL RD, 

Order Taker

Sales Rep.

BLACKMAN CHARTER TOWNSHIPBLACKMAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP

PO Number  Account: 20011771Account:20011771

Customer

JACKSON MI 49201 USAJACKSON MI 49201 USA

(517)788-4345 (517)788-4345 Order Source

Special Pricing

FAX:5177884689

karntz@blackmantwp.com

Tear Sheets

Materials

Promo Type

Blind Box

Affidavits

Proofs

Invoice Text

0

2

0

Net Amount

Payment Amount

Payment Method

Total Amount

Tax Amount

Amount Due

$157.49 

$0.00 

$157.49 

Invoice

$0.00 

$157.49 

Ad Schedule

BLACKMAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP BLACKMAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP

Joseph Rosa

Joseph Rosa

AffidavitsCost $20.00

TearsheetsCost $0.00

 612725 6725418

Run Dates

05/02/2021

Cost $124.99

Product

# Inserts

Placement/ClassJackson Citizen Patriot

 1 POS/Sub-Class

Announcements

Public Notices

0009956058-01

Sort Text NOTICEPLANNINGCOMMISSIONMEETINGBLACKMANCHARTERTOWNSHIPNOTICEISHEREBYGIVENTHATTHEBLAC

AdNumber

Ad Type MI CLS Liner Ad Size

Pick Up #

External Ad #

Ad Attributes

Color <NONE>

Production Method AdBooker Production Notes

1 X 63 li

Run Dates

05/02/2021

Cost $12.50

Product

# Inserts

Placement/ClassMLive.com

 1 POS/Sub-Class

Announcements

Public Notices

0009956058-01

Sort Text NOTICEPLANNINGCOMMISSIONMEETINGBLACKMANCHARTERTOWNSHIPNOTICEISHEREBYGIVENTHATTHEBLAC

AdNumber

Ad Type MI CLS Liner Ad Size

Pick Up #

External Ad #

Ad Attributes

Color <NONE>

Production Method AdBooker Production Notes

1 X 63 li

11:32AM4/29/2021

Confidentiality Notice:  This facsimile is intended only for its addressee and may contain information that is privileged, confidential or otherwise protected from disclosure.  Dissemination, distribution or 

copying of this facsimile or the information by anyone other than the intended recipient is prohibited.  If you have received this facsimile in error, please notify us immediately and return the facsimile by mail.

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #61 



 612725  4593

Ad Content Proof

0009956058-01

11:32AM4/29/2021

Confidentiality Notice:  This facsimile is intended only for its addressee and may contain information that is privileged, confidential or otherwise protected from disclosure.  Dissemination, distribution or 

copying of this facsimile or the information by anyone other than the intended recipient is prohibited.  If you have received this facsimile in error, please notify us immediately and return the facsimile by mail.

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #62 



 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #63 



 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #64 



 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #65 



This page is intentionally blank. 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #66 



 

  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

 

JACKSON COUNTY MASTER PLAN 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: June 3, 2021 

 Proposal: Future Land Use Plan 

Based upon the discussion that occurred during the May 13, 2021, meeting, staff developed this first 
draft of the proposed Future Land Use Plan map: 

 

 

6/10/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #67 


